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Chapel. 

The Cadet Chapel is the most ambitious and spectacular 
of all the Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson buildings at West 
Point.  Its site, above the Academic Area and Plain, make 
this the most visible symbol of the Academy. 

PART I.  HISTORICAL INFORMATION 

A.  Physical History: 

1. Date of erection:  1906-1910.  Drawings were approved in 1906, 
the cornerstone laid in 1909 and the building dedicated in 1910. 

2. Architect:  Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson, Architects, New York 
and Boston, Bertram Goodhue, partner in charge.  This was one 
of the principal buildings included in the competition for a new 
and expanded academic area. 

3. Original and subsequent owners:  U.S. Military Academy, Depart- 
ment of the Army. 

4. Builder, contractor, suppliers:  The firm of Charles T. Wills, 
Inc., New York City, was the builder.  This company also won con- 
tracts to build the gymnasium, the Chaplain's Quarters, the 
Battalion Guard House, and four double sets of officer's quarters. 

The Annual Report for 1909 mentions the stone for Chapel: 

"The quarrying of local stone required for new buildings has 
been continued at the same place as that mentioned in my last 
annual report, namely, the ledge in rear of quarters Nos. 23 
and 25.  This ledge has furnished not only sufficient stone to 
complete the post headquarters, but all the stone required for 
the north wing of barracks, chapel, and battalion guardhouse, 
and such as needed for the foundation walls of the gymnasium 
and officers' quarters." (...) 



U.S. MILITARY ACADEMY - CADET CHAPEL 
HABS NO. NY-5708-20 (page 2) 

"In order to facilitate the work on the chapel and to reduce 
the cost of hauling stone from the above mentioned quarry to 
site of the chapel, authority was obtained to purchase and erect 
an aerial cableway of about 1,000 feet span, extending from the 
quarry in rear of quarters Nos. 23 and 25 to the chapel.  This 
was furnished after competition by the New York Cableway and 
Engineering Company at a cost of $2,845.  The cost of timber 
for two towers and erection amounted to $3,016.57." 

"The main purpose of this cableway was to haul stone from the 
quarry to the chapel, but is has also been used to haul other 
material to the chapel, which was delivered at the gymnasium, 
125 feet lower than the chapel, and bring surplus material from 
the chapel for use on gymnasium.  Actual tests with teams demon- 
strated that the cable could do the same amount of work in the 
same time at a cost of about $25 per day less." 

Other suppliers for the Chapel included:  Irving & Casson, doors 
and door frames; Black & Boyd Manufacturing Company, lighting 
fixtures; Irving & Casson, paneling and furniture; John Wanamaker, 
cork floor covering and cushions; Irving & Casson, benches and 
chairs; M. P, Moller Company, organ; Meneely Bell Company, bells; 
and the Willet Stained Glass Window and Decorating Company, 
stained-glass windows.  August L. Duna of Duna Lighting Equip- 
ment Company, New York made the wrought iron gates at the stair 
entrances in the narthex (letter, Alfred L. Duna to Kenneth W. 
Rapp 5-24-79, U.S.M.A. Archives). 

5.  Original plans and construction:  The Chapel is basically un- 
altered from its original construction.  Its construction cost, 
given in the 1911 Annual Report, was $21,000 for excavation and 
foundations; $392,631 for the superstructure; $13,015 for the 
furniture, exterior doors and woodwork of the sacristy, alter 
and chancel; and $18,457 for the contractor1s commission. 

The Annual Report of 1909 mentions the original construction; 
"On the chapel and chaplain's quarters rapid progress was pre- 
vented, owing to delay in reaching a decision upon the proposi- 
tion to substitute limestone for concrete stone in the trim of 
these buildings.  Its substitution was recommended when the 
papers were forwarded for action, but as the War Department de- 
sired the exact additional cost to be ascertained before accept- 
ing the proposed substitution, one month was lost in securing 
this information." 

Professor C. W. Larned, Professor of Drawing from 1876 to 1911, 
was primarily responsible for the big Academy expansion program 
of which the Chapel was a part.  Professor Larned1s recommenda- 
tions for a chapel site are given in the supplemental material 
section.  Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson, however, argued success- 
fully for a different Chapel site: 
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"We have placed the Chapel on the commanding spur of the 
hill just west of the Cadet Barracks.  We have chosen this 
location for several reasons:  first, in order to remove 
the Chapel for the immediate vicinity of the Academic Build- 
ings; second, to give it a position where its tower would 
lift impressively above the other structures, which, in view 
of the rough nature of the land, with its picturesque possi- 
bilities, are arranged on a plain rather unfortunate for 
architectural effect; third, to give it a position covenient 
of access from Officers' Quarters and Hotel as well as from 
Cadet Barracks.  We carefully considered its location as in- 
dicated by Colonel Lamed, on 'Trophy Point', but dismissed 
this for the reason that it seemed to give the building too 
great prominence for a military institution, as being in- 
adequate from an architectural standpoint, and as destroying 
a more or less treasured site.  For the same reason, we dis- 
missed the idea of placing the Chapel where the Hotel now 
stands (Ed. note:  the Hotel then stood on Trophy Point east 
of the present location of the statue of George Washington), 
and also because we believe this latter location could be 
used more appropriately/'  (from George S. Pappas, The Cadet 
Chapel, U.S.M.A. 1953) . 

Montgomery Schuyler's article, "The Architecture of West Point" 
in the Architectural Record of 1902 reproduces a Cram, Goodhue 
and Ferguson site plan of the Chapel in its conceptional form. 
In this form a series of terraced steps cascade downward from 
the building to the north and connected the Chapel with a pro- 
posed athletic field (ultimately built elsewhere).  The Chaplain's 
Quarters are depicted to the west rather than to the south where 
they were built. 

Sylvester Baxter, writing in The Century Magazine in July 1904, 
described the new work at West Point, including this section 
on the Chapel: 

"The new Chapel has a commanding site on the spur of the 
hill just above the existing Cadet Barracks, on the west. 
Actually it will be a great church with seating capacity for 
fourteen hundred persons, accommodating the entire population 
of the post.  This fortunate site gives convenient access 
from all parts of the reservation.  The stately tower shows 
impressively above the other structures of the great central 
group.  At the same time, the location, well in the background, 
avoids giving the ecclesiastical element in the scheme a 
prominence beyond what is due in a military institution." 

The September 21, 1910 issue of The American Architect featured 
an article on the chapel.  This is included with the supplemental 
material. 
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6.  Alterations and additions:  Most alterations have occurred in 
the basement.  The following dated alterations have been deter- 
mined from drawings in the Facilities Engineer's Office, Direc- 
torate of Engineering and Housing:  new framing for the organ 
console, 1942; "Velvex" protection glass over windows, 1948; 
rehabilitation of the unexcavated space for the organ mechanism 
maintenance room in the basement, 1950; alterations to the fan 
room and crypt, 1955; various repointing of stone, 1955; auxil- 
iary Chapel created in basement, 1957; creation of a kitchen- 
ette in the basement, 1962; the replacement of new glass light 
globes, 1964; the creation of a new reception room in the base- 
ment, 1970; new roof, 1973; and various stone repairs including 
new crocketts on the north elevation, 1974.  Undated alterations 
include the removal of the barrel vaulted ceiling over the organ 
equipment in the attic and the replacement of exterior grilles 
and vents. 

Historical context:  The following information is taken from George 
S. Pappas's The Cadet Chapel.  More history of the Chapel can be 
found in The Cadet Chapel pp. 58-60, included in the supplemental 
material section.  For a general historical overview of the Chapel 
and its context with the physical development of West Point, consult 
HABS No. NY-5708, Volume 2:  "West Point:  An Overview of the History 
and Physical Development of the United States Military Academy." 

"Sunday chapel attendance is required at West Point.  Each cadet-- 
Catholic, Protestant, or Jewish— is required to attend the ser- 
vices of his faith.  The practice of obligatory cadet Sunday 
worship is almost as old as the Military Academy itself.  Prior 
to the appointment of the first official chaplain in August 
1813, visiting clergymen or the superintendent conducted services, 
The first chaplain, the Reverend Adam Empie, also served as Pro- 
fessor of Geography, History, and Ethics.  Moreover he performed 
the additional duties of treasurer of the Military Academy from 
1815 to 1816. 

There being no chapel at West Point, services were conducted 
in the mess hall, in class rooms, or, occasionally, out of doors. 
In 1815, cadets were not dismissed from afternoon parade until 
after evening prayer had been said, the chaplain reading the 
prayer before the cadets who were formed in an open square." 
(p. 58) 

The Chapel plays an important part in a cadet's life when the Bacca- 
laureate service is held on the Sunday before graduation, which in- 
cludes the dedication of any class memorial windows.  The Chapel is 
also the place where members of the graduating class are married 
following graduation exercises. 

George Pappas mentions the services at the Chapel:  "All of the Cadet 
Chapel services follow a form approved by the larger Protestant com- 
munions.  These services have been incorporated in the "West Point 
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Prayer Book" adopted in .1948.  The Prayer Book was edited by the late 
Bishop John B. Walthour, Cadet Chaplain from 1941 to 1947.  Included 
in the Prayer Book are the services used for many years in pamphlet 
form, responsive readings, collects, epistles, and gospels, as well 
as services for weddings, baptisms, and burials.  Included also is 
the Cadet Prayer written by another former chaplain, Clayton E. Wheat, 
and revised by Chaplain Walthour in 1947." 

Cadet Chaplains from 1813 to 1960: 

1813-1817 Adams Empie 
1818 Cave Jones 
1818-1825 Thomas Picton 
1825-1827 Charles P. Mcllvaine 
1828-1838 Thomas Warner 
1838-1840 Jasper Adams 
1840-1846 M. P. Parks 
1847-1856 William T. Sprole 
1856-1871 John W. French 
1871-1881 John Forsyth 
1881-1896 William Postlethwaite 
1896-1905 Herbert Shipman 
1905-1913 Edward S. Travers 
1913-1918 Horace P. Silver 
1918 Remsen B. Ogilby 
1918-1926 Clayton E. Wheat 
1926-1933 Arthur B. Kinsolving, II 
1933-1937 Roscoe T. Foust 
1937-1941 H. Fairfield Butt, III 
1941-1947 John B. Walthour 
1947-1960 Frank E. Pulley 
1960- Thomas C. Speers 
1982- Richard Camp 

(from The Cadet Chapel) 

PART II.  ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION 

A.  General Statement: 

# 

Architectural character:  The Cadet Chapel embodies the architec- 
tural image of West Point, both stylistically and visually.  As 
a building type, the Chapel's cathedral form utilizes the gothic 
style to its fullest.  The integral sculptural decoration and 
the memorial stained glass windows give it a rich idigenous 
character.  Bertram Goodhue used many authentic details of the 
primarily English Gothic Style while adding touches of military 
gothic in keeping with the Academy's role. 

Condition of fabric:  The building is in excellent condition due 
to the replacement of various stone members. 

Description of Exterior: 
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1. Overall dimensions:  The Chapel is designed in a classic 
cruciform cathedral shape measuring 217' long, 56' wide on the 
north end and 37' wide on the south.  Its nave is 118' long, its 
transept 72' across x 39-8" wide and its chancel 32-8" long. 
The nave has six bays, the transept two and the chancel two. 
One large bay fills the facade and the south elevation.  There 
is a full basement.  A 40' square tower rises above the crossing 
to a height of 145' above grade and 61' above the roof. 

2. Foundations:  Foundations consist of concrete footings and rubble 
stone.  Foundation walls are much higher on the east due to the 
falling grade. 

3. Walls:  Walls are granite laid in random range ashlar pattern 
with a brick interior lining.  The stone was quarried locally, 
as described in Part I.  All trim is limestone.  Limestone was 
substituted for the originally specified "concrete stone" and 
used for the bevelled watertable, beltcourses, buttresses, 
copings, jambs, parapets, crocketts, etc.  The sculptural figures 
by Lee Lawrie are presumed to be of limestone also.  For a detail- 
ed description of exterior walls and ornamentation, consult 
George S. Pappas's The Cadet Chapel which is included in the 
supplemental material section. 

4. Structural systems:  Walls are load-bearing stone with concrete 
slab floors.  Arches are limestone and brick.  Vaults are a com- 
bination of Gustavino tiles between limestone ribs.  The piers 
are also limestone.  Above the Gustavino vaulting of the nave 
is a steel truss system and above that a wooden rafter and purlin 
roof framing system. 

5. Porches, stoops, balconies:  For a description of these, consult 
George S. Pappas's The Cadet Chapel, which is included in the 
supplemental material section. 

6. Openings: 

a.  Doorways and doors:  Heavy oak panelled doors with decorative 
wrought iron hinges and pulls are found on the north, east 
and west doorways.  The symbolic significance of the door 
hardware and of the sculptural embellishments associated 
with the doorways is found in George S. Pappas's The Cadet 
Chapel, contained in the supplemental material section. 
One of the most interesting doorways is the "Ecclesiastical 
Dungeon" entrance under the "Galilee Porch" on the north, 
representing similar features in medieval cathedrals. 

B.  Windows:  The most significant windows are the larger stone 
traceried windows of stained glass by the Willet Stained 
Glass Window and Decorating Company.  The subject matter, 
symbolism and dates of memorial class windows is found in 
George S. Pappas's The Cadet Chapel in the supplemental 
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material section.  Other windows have leaded lights and are 
generally pivoting casements.  There are five types of tra- 
ceried windows, two types of double windows and two types 
of single windows. 

7.  Roof: 

a. Shape, covering:  The roof is a low pitch gable concealed 
behind the parapet walls.  The roof was replaced in 1973 
with standing seam copper over the nave (replacing the ori- 
ginal standing seam copper) and elastometric sheet roofing 
which replaced original sections of flat seam copper. 

b. Eaves:  Beltcourses above the clerestory windows and near 
the top of the tower feature carved figures by Lee Lawrie. 
These depict Arthurian legends, military and religious 
figures from medieval times and figures portraying military 
duties.  Consult Pappas's The Cadet Chapel for a full discus- 
sion of these. 

c. Towers:  There are two short octagonal towers on the north 
associated with the facade.  George Pappas comments on these: 
"The castellated effect, seldom found in ecclesiastical 
structures, is typical of medieval castle or fortress tower. 
Goodhue blended these typically military architectural fea- 
tures with the graceful windows, the buttresses, and the 
ornamentation of the Gothic cathedral to form a pattern suit- 
able for the Chapel."  Pappas goes on to describe the central 
tower, which contains the bells:  "The central tower is 
another feature of the English Gothic cathedral as compared 
with the two western towers generally found in the French 
cathedral.  The square tower rising above the intersection 
of the Nave and the transepts and the two small towers at 
the north end of the Chapel give it an appearance very simi- 
lar to that of Chester cathedral.  The design of the tower 
is simple, in keeping with the architecture of the entire 
building.  Two arched openings on each face of the tower 
open into the belfry.  The parapets of the tower are battle- 
men ted to conform with the battlements of the Nave walls. 
The only tower embellishments are the carved figures of the 
stringcourse and the simple pinnacles on each face." 

C.  Description of Interior: 

I.  Floor plans:  The cruciform plan of the Chapel is typical of 
English Gothic prototypes with its nave, aisles, chancel, 
transepts, narthex, triforium and crypt.  The first floor plan 
and a longitudinal section are found in George S. Pappas's 
The Cadet Chapel in tne supplemental material.  The basement 
level contains an assembly room, an office, a kitchen, repair 
shop, three organ equipment rooms, the Fenton Room (used as 
private chapel), storage rooms, rest rooms and the crypt.  The 
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crypt was reportedly designed, for the internment of famous 
Academy alumni although it has never been used for that purpose. 
It is described in detail in The Cadet Chapel.  The triforium 
level of the Chapel contains the low, narrow triforium passage, 
the transept balconies and three areas containing organ equip- 
ment:  one in the northwest corner and one each over the side 
choir bays. 

Above the ribbed ceiling is an attic space over the narthex, nave, 
transepts and chancel.  Organ equipment occupies the attic space 
flanking the chancel and a bell control room (see HABS photograph) 
is above the crossing.  The belfry area of the tower is above 
the bell control room (see cross section in supplemental material) 
Consult The Cadet Chapel for a more detailed description of the 
tower. 

3. Flooring:  Floor materials vary in different parts of the Chapel. 
The basement floors are concrete except for the crypt which has 
a stone floor.  The principal floor has a hierarchy of floor 
finishes:  concrete in the narthex, granolithic in the nave and 
transept, slate and Welsh quarry tile in the chancel, Mercer 
tiles in the alter area and hardwood in the sacristy. 

4. Wall and ceiling finish:  For the most part, interior walls 
are finished with beige bricks in a running bond, five course 
American bond and Flemish bond.  The crypt has stone walls, the 
sacristy has wood panelled walls and the chancel and alter have 
wood wainscoting and wood panelling.  A richly carved decorative 
band tops the alter panelling.  All major spaces, such as the 
crypt, narthex, nave, transepts, and chancel have groin vaults 
of Gustavino tile and limestone ribs.  Piers and columns are 
limestone.  Arches, moldings piers, columns, and corbels make 
up much of the integral ornament of the interior walls and 
structure.  See HABS photographs and descriptions in The Cadet 
Chapel. 

5. Openings: 

a.  Doorways and doors:  The most elaborate door of the interior 
is that leading to the crypt.  This hammered copper door 
features "a cross which incorporates a broken hourglass and 
a shattered sword.  Here, leading into the place designed 
to receive the bodies of twelve illustrious dead, is the 
symbol of the departed Christian knight.  The broken hour- 
glass indicates that the sands of life have run out; the 
shattered sword shows that he has come to the end of his 
military exploits, his last battle is over; and the cross 
symbolized the promise of the life to come."  (The Cadet 
Chapel) 

Wrought iron folding gates stand at the entrance to corner 
staircases in the narthex.  These were made by August L. 
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Duna of Duna Lighting Equipment Corporation of New York City. 
Mr. Duna came to the United States from Vienna in 1905 and 
settled in the Boston area.  His work includes that for 
Czar Nicholas of Russia and for the Rozy Theater at Rocke- 
feller Center.  (Letter from Alfred L. Duna to Kenneth W. 
Rapp, 24 May 1979, U.S.M.A. Archives). 

There are two unusual doorways:  a hidden one that leads 
from the sacristy into the attached Chaplain's Quarters and 
a hidden one concealed as panelling in the sanctuary that 
leads to the sacristy. 

b. Windows: The stained glass windows are described in detail 
by George S. Pappas in The Cadet Chapel, a part of which is 
quoted here: 

"The Chapel windows fall into three natural groupings: 
the Sanctuary window, which is a memorial to graduates 
of the Military Academy; the Nave windows, which are 
the gifts of the various classes; and the north window, 
which is a memorial to the alumni who died in World 
War I.  In the folio which they submitted in the 1903 
competition, Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson stated:  'The 
style we have chosen for all the buildings would parti- 
cularly lend itself to memorials of various kinds in 
the Chapel; for instance, tombs, cenotaphs, wall and 
floor tablets, and particularly windows of stained glass, 
each window, perhaps, being given in memory of one of 
the different graduating classes at the Academy.'" 

To the left of the alter at the triforium level in the wall 
is a lepers' squint or hagioscope.  Historically used by 
lepers to view the service while remaining separate from the 
congregation, Goodhue placed this one so that the alter can 
be viewed from the second floor dressing room of the Chap- 
lain's Quarters. 

6.  Decorative features and trim:  There are many decorative features, 
most of which are concentrated in the chancel and altar area. 
These features are described in detail in The Cadet Chapel and 
are merely listed here:  three rows of choir pews, a single row 
of choir stalls, intricately carved choir screens, carved altar 
panelling, three carved clergy stalls, a marble altar with a 
1938 sculpture of General Grant, a carved reredos by Lee Lawrie, 
two candelabras, a Roman camp chair, a credence, hymn boards, 
pulpit and lectern.  The pews are without decoration except for 
the book rests of the Superintendent's pew where brass plates 
contain the signatures of all superintendents who have worshiped 
there. 

In addition to the wood and stone carvings, stained glass windows 
and general architectural treatment, the interior is embellished 
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with battle flags hanging from the triforium.  George S. 
Pappas describes these:  "These battle flags hanging from the 
triforium have caused the Chapel to be compared often to St. 
George's Chapel, Windsor, England, and to the Church of St. 
Louis at Les Invalides in Paris.  Old National and regimental 
colors are alternated.  The regimental flags include 
artillery standards and infantry colors carried in the Civil 
War, the Spanish American War, and the Philippine Insurrection. 
Famed old regiments are honored here—the 3rd, 4th and 5th 
Artillery Regiments; the 6th, 14th, 17th, 18th, and 19th Infantry 
Regiments, to name but a few.  The American flags displayed in- 
clude that of the 4th United States Artillery carried in the 
Civil War and four carried by the Corps of Cadets—two during 
the Civil War period, one from 1890-1897, and one about 1912." 

7. Hardware:  The most beautiful of all the wrought iron hinges 
and door pulls are those of the north entrance doors.  The hinges 
here are cut-out with a Latin inscription which translates: 
"0, God, whos dosth crush out war and by they powerful defense 
dost defeat the assailants of them that trust in thee, come to 
the help of thy servants who implore thy mercy." (Pappas) 

8. Mechanical equipment: 

a. Heating:  Heating is by direct and indirect radiators. 

b. Lighting: Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson used similar lighting 
fixtures in all of their buildings at West Point and in 
some of their other works elsewhere e.g. Winston, North 
Carolina and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. In the Chapel these 
are primarily wall sconces with hanging pointed globes. 
New globes were made for the Headquarters building, the 
Gymnasium and the Chapel in 1970. 

c. Organ and chimes:  The Cadet Chapel organ has grown from its 
initial size in 1911 to "the largest church organ in the 
western hemisphere,"  "The original instrument was built 
with funds appropriated by Congress ($10,000).  This organ 
consisted of three manuals, or keyboards, with thirty-eight 
ranks of pipes, a total of 2,406 individual speaking pipes. 
The organ was obtained largely through the efforts of the 
Superintendent, Major General Hugh L. Scott,  Specifications 
were prepared by the West Point Quartermaster, Major James 
M. Carson.  The success of the original organ was due largely 
to the sympathetic supervision of G. Seibert Losh and to the 
artistic tonal-regulation in the Chapel by Charles Williams, 
both members of the M. P. Holler Company of Hagerstown, 
Maryland." (Pappas)  (Consult The Cadet Chapel for more 
detailed information,) 

Detailed information on the organ and on the Anderson Memorial 
Bells and the Elizabeth Phillips Irwin Carillon can be found 
in the "Fact Sheet," Information Office, U.S.M.A., in the 
Supplemental Section. 
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9.  Original furnishings:  See "Decorative Features" above. 

D.  Site: 

1,  General setting and orientation:  The Chapel site on the hill 
overlooking the Plain and the Academic Area.  To take advantage 
of its site, the architects oriented the traditional east altar 
end to the south, so that the long east elevation was visible 
from the Plain below.  Due to a falling west-to-east grade, the 
foundation walls are higher on the east, enhancing the vertical 
nature of the building.  A stone staircase descends to the "dun- 
geon" entrance and a path on the north side.  The path winds 
down to DeRussy Road.  Another path south of the Chaplain's 
Quarters winds down to the south.  DeRussy Loop Road connects 
DeRussy Road and Mills Road to the northwest.  To the west is 
a water treatment plant (U.S.M.A. #726), a restroom (U.S.M.A. 
#724), the 1919 Monument and the 1946 Monument.  Attached to 
the south is the Chaplain's Quarters (HABS NY-5708-21).  Downhill 
to the east the Chapel overlooks the Cadet Mess/Washington Hall 
(HABS NY-5708-44) and Scott Barracks (HABS NY-5708-45). 

A stone retaining wall encircles the building on the east, pro- 
viding a walk to the east door, while on the west a paved road- 
way and parking lot come right up against the building.  Deciduous 
and coniferous trees surround the Chapel on the east and north. 

PART III.  SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

A. Architectural Drawings:  Original ink-on-linen working drawings exist 
in the Facilities Engineer's Office, Directorate of Engineering and 
Housing, U.S. Military Academy.  Subsequent alteration drawings are 
also found there.  Photographs of some of these drawings are included 
herein. 

B. Early Views:  Early photographs of the Chapel are in the Archives 
Collection, U.S. Military Academy, especially the Stockbridge Collec- 
t ion, numbers 731 and 734. 

C. Bibliography: 

1. Primary and unpublished sources: 

Records and letters U.S. Military Academy Archives and Special 
Collections.  See the bibliographic essay in the Lange volume 
of this project for a listing of record groups. 

Letter, Alfred L. Duna to Kenneth W. Rapp, 24 May 1979.  U.S. 
Military Academy Archives. 

2. Secondary and published sources: 

Annual Reports, U.S. Military Academy Archives, West Point. 



U.S. MILITARY ACADEMY - CADET CHAPEL 
HABS NO. NY-5708-20 (page 12) 

Baxter, Sylvester.  "The New West Point," The Century 
Magazine, Vol. LXVIII, No. 3, July 1904. 

"The Cadet Chapel," Fact Sheet, Information Office, U.S.M.A. 
March 1971. 

Grashof, Bethanie C.  "Building Analysis and Preservation 
Guidelines for Category I and Selected Category II Buildings 
at the United States Military Academy, West Point, New York," 
Historic American Buildings Survey, 1983.  HABS No. NY-5708. 

Lange, Robie S.  "West Point:  An Overview of the History 
and Physical Development of the United States Military Academy," 
Historic American Buildings Survey, 1983.  HABS No. NY-5708. 

Pappas, George S.  The Cadet Chapel.  West Point:  Cadet 
Religious Welfare Board, 1953- 

Schuyler, Montgomery.  "The Architecture of West Point," 
Architectural Record (Reprinted in the U.S.M.A. Annual 
Report of 1902). 

D. Likely Sources Not Yet Investigated:  The records of Cram, Goodhue 
and Ferguson, especially Bertram Goodhue. 

E. Supplemental Material: 

1. Military Academy Appropriation Bill, Annual Report 1902. 

2. Information Office, U.S.M.A.  "Fact Sheet:  The Cadet Chapel," 
March 1971. 

3. George S. Pappas, The Cadet Chapel. 



U.S. MILITARY ACADEMY - CADET CHAPEL 
HABS NO. NY-5708-20 (page 13) 

E.  Supplemental Material 

1.  Military Academy Appropriation Bill 
Annual Report, U.S.M.A. 1902 
U.S. Military Academy Archives and Special Collections 

Professor C. W. Larned's statement in the Annual Report of 1902 
(pp. 54-55) concerning a "study of the conditions incident to 
a renovation of the existing plant of the Military Academy" ad- 
vocated a new chapel as follows: 

"It is proposed to erect a new chapel on Trophy Point, which 
in extent is exactly adapted to its size, and in position 
affords a commanding and convenient location.  It is fitting 
that the new chapel should so far as possible recall the old 
building in its interior arrangement, and to that end a nave 
similar in general design to that of its predecessor is 
suggested, with a transept and apse surmounted by a dome, 
constituting a structure of a very picturesque character 
in such a site.  This site as seen from the river and plain 
has no superior in the country, and the building, both in 
interior and exterior finish, should be planned to seat not 
less than 1,400." 

Under questioning by the appropriation committee,  Professor 
Larned's ideas concerning a new chapel were further clarified: 

"The chapel is now a matter of very considerable importance 
to us.  I have studied the situation very carefully, and the 
site proposed here was determined upon in connection with 
the removal of the hotel.  This site is what is called Trophy 
Point.  It is a little peninsula out of the main parade, and 
is very picturesque in its situation, commanding as it does 
a view of the river.  It is entirely adequate to the location 
of a chapel, and is now filled with handsome trees, the major- 
ity of which should not be removed. By the acquisition of 
the hotel site we will then have an uninterrupted river front 
along the main parade adapted to parking, monuments, or any 
lay-out of a similar character that will embellish the site. 

The new site on Trophy Point is entirely convenient to all. 
It is convenient to the officers' row here.  It is convenient 
to the cadets' barracks; and if the building is a handsome 
one (as we hope it will be) it will be very picturesque from 
the river, as well as from the general parade.  A handsome 
building in a beautiful landscape is a desirable addition. 
If this building is constructed as it should be, it will be 
a very beautiful feature from every point of view. 

Mr. Esch:  It would not obstruct the view up the river? 
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Professor Larned:  I do not see that it would.  Of course 
it would obstruct the view of the river from a certain 
position; but it is the only.building on an unobstructed front 
of over a quarter of a mile.  It only obstructs the view from 
a position immediately in front of that building; and Trophy 
Point as it is now is filled with trees, so that so far as 
seeing the view from the plain is concerned, the trees obli- 
terate it practically as much as the building.  The obstruc- 
tion of view, of course, is removed the moment you change 
your point of view; but we gain from the hotel so much more 
than we lose there that the balance is decidedly in our favor. 

Two of these buildings on the east side of the parade on the 
map are already in existence.  This is Memorial Hall, on 
the east of the plain and just to the northeast of the library; 
and next to it is now being erected the officers' mess.  We 
propose to balance the officers' mess on the other side of 
Memorial Hall by a building devoted to bachelor officers' 
quarters.  The group of buildings, therefore, on the eastern 
side of the plain will be devoted entirely to the use of 
bachelor officers." 
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:-s IOTORMATION OFFICE 
UNITED STATES MILITARY ACADEMY 

WEST POINT, NEW YORK 109% 

■"-"'#;-:V;     Tel: 938-2006 ^; 
4^V      (Area Code 914)   . ;v  > 7s*-^V/* 

THE CADET CHAPEL 

Religion has always had an important influence in cadet 

life, and the first chapel to be built at the Academy still 

stands.  This building, known as the Old Cadet Chapel, dates 

from 1836 and served the cadets and members of the Post until 

1911.  Duringthese years it occupied a site near the Library, 

but when it was necessary to make way for new academic build- 

ings so much sentiment was attached to it that it was removed 

stone by stone and rebuilt in its present location in the 

Cemetery.  Over the altar is the painting "Peace and War" by 

the late Professor Weir.  Around the walls are black marble 

shields, inscribed in gold letters with the names, ranks, and 

dates of birth and death of the generals of the Revolutionary 

War. 

The Cadet Chapel, built on the hillside, above Washington 

Hall, dominates the entire Academy and is acclaimed as a superb 

example of military Gothic architecture.  It is cruciform in 

(MORE) 
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THB   CADET   CHAPEL/2 

plan,   with a  high central   tower.     Around   the cornice  are a   series  of 

figures   representing   the  Quest   of   the  Holy Grail,   and  over   the  door   is 

carved   a  great   two-handed   sx^ord  representing   King  Arthur's   "Excalibur." 

The   interior  of  the  Chapel   is   200 feet  by  72 feet   (across   the  transepts) 

arranged with nave,   aisles,   triforium,   and  a fine range of   clerestory 

windows.     The great  chancel window was  erected  "To   the glory of God  and 

in memory  of  the departed graduates  of  the  United  States Military 

Academy,   by  the  living alumni."    There are  twenty-seven panels,   each 

representing  one of  the chief militant figures   in Biblical   History. 

Rivaling   this  great window  in  beauty,   the  twenty-one  panel  window 

above the  Chapel main door  presented  by  the Association of  Graduates 

bears  this   tribute:      "To  our  graduates  who  died   in   the World   War, 

proudly  their  Alma Mater   claims   her   own;   may she  have  sons   like   these 

from age  to age."    According   to  custom  two  panels  are presented   each 

year  by   the graduating class,   one for   itself and'one  for  the class 

which graduated  100  years   before.     The organ  in   the Cadet  Chapel   is 

renowned  as   the  largest  church  organ   in   the western hemisphere.      It 

was  designed by Mr.   F.   C.   Mayer  who was  organist and  choirmaster  at 

West  Point from  1911  until   his  retirement   in  1954. 

THE  CADET  CHAPEL ORGAN 

The  original   Cadet  Chapel   organ was   installed   in  1911.      Funds  for 

the   $10,000   instrument had  been  appropriated  by Congress.     The  organ 

contained   2406  pipes,   comprising   thirty-eight  ranks,   playable  from  a 

"*    tHree manual  console.     M.   P.  Moller  Company of Hagerstown,   Maryland 

built  the   instrument.     Mr.   Frederick C.   Mayer was  appointed  organist 

and   choirmaster   in   1911,   and   supervised   the   installation of  the  organ. 

He conceived   the   idea of   improving  and  expanding  the   instrument  by means 

CMOJRE) 
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of memorial gifts,   and planned  for many  significant additions during 

his   forty-three years  of   service. 

The program of  expansion and  improvement  inaugurated  by Mr, 

Mayer  has  been  continued by John A.   Davis,   Jr.,  who has  been organist 

and  choirmaster   since  1955.     The Chapel  organ  is   now  the fifth largest 

pipe  organ  in the world,   and the  second largest  in a religious   edifice, 

based on the  number  of  individual speaking  pipes   (15,271).      It  is 

exceeded  in size by  the  instruments   in the Atlantic City Convention 

Hall,   Wanamaker's  Store-Philadelphia,   the Mexico City Auditorium,  and 

the  Cathedral   in Passau,   Germany. 

The Cadet Chapel organ contains   232 ranks  of pipes,   controlled by 

a four manual  console   (the  third) which was  installed   in 1950.     This 

console contains  757   stopkeys and 117  tilting  tablets arranged   in ten 

rows.     The  organ contains   the following divisions:     Great,   Choir,   Swell, 

Solo,   Pedal,   Harmonic,   Orchestral,  Viol,   Echo,   Reed,  and Vox Humana. 

Wind  pressure  is provided  by  60,   30,   and   1-1/2  horsepower  blowers. 

A 3  horsepower vacuum unit  supplies   the console,   and D.C.   current  is 

available  from various  rectifiers  and generators. 

The  largest pipe  in  the organ  is  32  feet   long.     It  is   20 by 

17-1/2   inches   square.     The smallest  pipe   is   1/4  inch speaking   length 

and  1/8   inch  in diameter. 

THE ANDERSON MEMORIAL  BELLS AND THE 
ELIZABETH PHILLIPS  IRWIN CARILLON 

For more  than  50 years,   a  chime of 12 cast bells,  given in 

memory of Major General  Robert Anderson of  the Class of   1825,  has 

sounded out from the tower of   the Cadet Chapel.     Hymns,   college songs, 

and folk music have been played on  the bells by Cadet cHinvers _before 

(MORE) 
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CADET CHAPEL/4 

the   evening meal,   and preceding   the  services  on  Sunday mornings. 

The musical  possibilities   of   the  tower and  Chapel were greatly 

augmented   in June  of   1966 with   the addition of   the  Elizabeth Phillips 

Irwin Carillon,   dedicated   to   the Class  of   1941   and   the honored  dead  of 

the   U.S.   Military Academy.     This   instrument,  which   includes   Flemish 

Bells,   Harp,   Celesta,   and  other   tonal  possibilities,   is used for 

special  carillon programs  from  the  tower.     Its  resources  are also 

available for  use   in conjunction with  the Chapel organ.     The  carillon 

was  provided by Mr.   Henry  D.   Irwin of  the Class  of   1941. 

-   30  - 

(Rev 3/71) 
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PART IV.  PROJECT INFORMATION 

This documentation is part of a multi-year project sponsored 
by the National Park Service and the United States Military 
Academy, explained in HABS No. NY-5708, Volume 1, "Methodology." 
This written documentation was prepared by Travis C. McDonald, 
Jr., architectural historian, in 1982-1985 based on fieldwork 
conducted in 1982. 


